

Artūrs Zemītis ORCID 0000-0002-6371-7362

Association of Anterior Chamber Depth, Volume, and Intraocular Fluid Metabolome with Lens Hardness in Cataract Patients

Summary of the Doctoral Thesis for obtaining the scientific degree "Doctor of Science (*PhD*)"

Sector Group – Medical and Health Sciences

Sector – Clinical Medicine

Sub-Sector – Ophthalmology

The Doctoral Thesis was developed at Rīga Stradiņš University, Department of Ophthalmology, Latvia

Supervisors of the Doctoral Thesis:

Dr. med., Professor **Guna Laganovska**, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia Dr. med., Assistant Professor **Juris Vanags**, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia

Scientific Advisor:

PhD, Associate Professor **Kristaps Kļaviņš**, Riga Technical University, Latvia

Official Reviewers:

Dr. biol., Associate Professor Andrejs Šķesters, Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia Associate Professor Rimvydas Stanislovas Ašoklis, Vilnius University, Lithuania Professor Reda Žemaitiene, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

Defence of the Doctoral Thesis will take place at the public session of the Promotion Council of Clinical Medicine on 8 January 2026 at 13.00 in the Senate Hall, 16 Dzirciema Street, Rīgas Stradiņš University.

The Doctoral Thesis is available in RSU Library and on RSU website: https://www.rsu.lv/en/dissertations

Secretary of the Promotion Council:

PhD. Lead Researcher Baiba Vilne

Table of Contents

Abbreviations used in the Thesis	4
Introduction	5
Aim of the study	11
Objectives	11
Hypotheses	11
Novelty of the study	12
Personal contribution	12
Ethical considerations	12
Discussion	13
Influence of Anterior Chamber Volume and Depth on Lens Hardness	13
Metabolomic differences in patients with varying lens hardness	14
Metabolic processes as a basis of cataract pathogenesis	14
Taurine	15
NAD ⁺ Deficiency and the Tryptophan–Kynurenine Metabolic Pathway	18
KAT activity as a biomarker and therapeutic target	20
Metabolic Differences in Patients with Various Ophthalmic Pathologies	21
Changes in Patients with PEXS	21
Changes in Patients with Glaucoma	22
Changes in Patients with Diabetes	22
Conclusions	24
Theoretical insights into cataract metabolic mechanisms	24
Proposals	26
List of publications, reports and patents on the topic of the Thesis	27
References	28
Acknowledgements	37

Abbreviations used in the Thesis

3-HK 3-Hydroxykynurenine

ACD Anterior chamber depth

ACV Anterior chamber volume

BH₄ Tetrahydrobiopterin

CI Credibility interval

FGF2 Fibroblast growth factor 2

GSH Glutathione (reduced form)

IDO Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase

KAT Kynurenine aminotransferase

KYN Kynurenine

KYNA Kynurenic acid

LEC Lens epithelial cells

NAD⁺ Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide

NADPH Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced form)

NO Nitric oxide

PEXS Pseudoexfoliation syndrome

ROS Reactive oxygen species

TauT Taurine transporter

UV Ultraviolet radiation

Introduction

Approximately 95 million people worldwide suffer from cataracts (Liu et al., 2017). Cataract is the leading cause of blindness, accounting for about half of all cases of preventable blindness globally (Javitt et al., 1996). Data from the Malaysian National Eye Survey for 1996 indicate that cataract was the main cause of blindness (39 %), followed by retinal diseases (24 %) (Zainal et al., 2002). This pathology remains one of the major ophthalmological problems in both developed and developing countries (Cedrone et al., 1999). Although a decrease in incidence has been observed in different regions of the world, the prevalence of cataract-induced blindness and its impact on the population remain high (Lee & Afshari, 2017). In developing countries, 90 % of all disability-adjusted life years lost are associated with blindness caused by cataracts (Nam et al., 2015).

Data from the World Health Organization and the *Global Burden of Disease 2020* indicate that cataract accounts for approximately 45.5 % of all cases of global blindness in adults over 50 years of age, as well as 38.9 % of moderate to severe visual impairment in the same age group (Steinmetz et al., 2021). These figures reflect a longstanding trend – cataract remains the leading cause of vision loss worldwide, particularly in China, South Asia, and Southeast Asia, where prevalence levels significantly exceed the global average (Chua et al., 2015).

Studies indicate that the number of disability-adjusted life years attributable to cataracts nearly doubled from 1990 to 2021, remaining a particularly pressing issue in countries with lower levels of development – highlighting the need to improve treatment accessibility (Li et al., 2025). The 2019 Global Burden of Disease Study report shows that disability-adjusted life years associated with cataracts increased from 3.49 million (95 % CI 2.48–4.72 million) to 6.68 million (95 % CI 4.76–9.01 million) between 1990 and 2019 (Fang et al., 2022). Considering global population growth, ageing, and the rising prevalence of vision-impairing conditions, it is projected that the number of people with blindness or moderate to severe visual impairment (including cataract) will rise from 338.3 million in 2020 to 535 million in 2050, despite global efforts to reduce disease burden and improve access to eye care services (Bourne et al., 2017).

Cataract is the loss of lens transparency, which clinically manifests with the following symptoms: decreased visual acuity (Hurst & Douthwaite, 1993); a sensation of blurred vision (Skiadaresi et al., 2012); increased sensitivity to bright light (Shandiz et al., 2011); monocular diplopia (Records, 1980); reading difficulties (Pesudovs & Coster, 1998); and, in more advanced stages of lens maturity, elevated intraocular pressure (Flocks et al., 1955) and, ultimately, vision loss (Han et al., 2023).

Cataracts cannot be effectively treated with pharmacological agents (Harding, 2001). The only proven and clinically effective treatment is the surgical extraction of the opacified lens and implantation of an intraocular artificial lens (Davis, 2016). Therefore, surgery is the primary treatment approach for cataracts and has become one of the most commonly performed surgical procedures worldwide (Moshirfar et al., 2024). Today, cataract surgery is considered not only the most frequent but also one of the most effective medical procedures, characterised by a high success rate in restoring visual function and a relatively low risk of complications (Rossi et al., 2021). However, despite highly developed technology and wide availability in developed countries, surgery remains insufficiently accessible in many developing regions. Low public awareness of the disease, inadequate healthcare infrastructure, and limited economic resources contribute to delayed diagnosis and increase the prevalence of cataract-related blindness (Cetinel et al., 2014).

Studies indicate that cataract surgery in middle-aged patients may be associated with an increased risk of mortality, possibly due to overall health impairments and chronic comorbidities that are more prevalent in this age group (K. Negahban & K. Chern, 2002). These observations raise the question of whether cataracts are primarily driven by ageing processes or whether oxidative stress and chronic inflammatory mechanisms play a more significant role (Li et al., 2024). Many of the structural and functional changes involved in cataract pathogenesis arise from or are exacerbated by oxidative stress, ultraviolet (UV) radiation, osmotic imbalance, and other cell-damaging factors (Richardson et al., 2020). Cataracts also frequently occur as one manifestation of broader metabolic disorders or genetic syndromes, such as diabetes, galactosemia, hypocalcaemia, or mitochondrial diseases (Kambiz Negahban & Kenneth Chern, 2002). In such cases, the clinical course and presentation may differ from age-related cataracts, underscoring the need for an individualised approach in diagnosis and treatment.

Since the advent of modern medicine, age has been considered the primary risk factor for cataract development (Sperduto, 1994). However, clinical practice often reveals significant intra-individual variability, where patients of the same age may exhibit markedly different levels of lens opacity (Hashemi et al., 2020). Ageing is defined as a process that gradually reduces the body's ability to resist damage, disease, and environmental stressors. It manifests across numerous physiological systems, including respiratory rhythm, visual acuity decline, blood pressure fluctuations, and postural regulation, while also significantly increasing mortality risk and affecting reproductive function. Studies confirm that the ageing process is primarily associated with the accumulation of cellular and molecular damage caused by oxidative reactions, the effects of free radicals and other reactive oxygen species, interactions

with sugars and reactive aldehydes, and spontaneous metabolic errors (Sadowska-Bartosz & Bartosz, 2014). During ageing, the crystalline lens fibres gradually deteriorate under the influence of various biological and physical factors, including UV radiation, oxidative stress, deamination, racemisation, and post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation (Lampi et al., 1998; Ma et al., 1998). The loss of lens transparency, or opacity, is considered a consequence of structural changes in crystallin proteins – their misfolding and aggregation (Goulet et al., 2011). Initially, this process serves as a protective cellular mechanism, preventing the accumulation of toxic protein monomers, but over time it contributes to fibre structure degradation and the loss of functional lens transparency (Flaugh et al., 2006; Moreau & King, 2012). Thus, cataract pathogenesis is largely associated with a loss of proteostasis and disrupted protein homeostasis, making this process dependent not only on chronological age but also on individual metabolic, genetic, and environmental factors (Taylor & Davies, 1987).

The lens is an avascular, transparent optical structure composed of highly organised, optically syncytial layers of cells and plays a crucial role in focusing light onto the retina (Delaye & Tardieu, 1983). Due to the absence of blood vessels, the lens has developed an internal ionic circulation system closely linked to fluid movement, which ensures efficient microcirculation of nutrients (Mathias et al., 2007). Lens transparency is maintained by fibre cells with a high concentration of crystallin proteins, which are arranged over short distances in a highly organised structural pattern (Chiou et al., 1988).

Lens epithelial cells (LECs) – the only viable cell layer within the adult lens – play a crucial role in maintaining the structural and functional integrity of the lens (Bassnett & Šikić, 2017). These cells mediate active ion transport, participate in antioxidant synthesis, maintain osmotic and metabolic balance, and serve as progenitors for the differentiation of new fibre cells in the equatorial zone of the lens (Andley, 2008). LECs are particularly susceptible to oxidative stress, and their functional impairment is considered one of the early events in the cataract pathogenesis cascade (Liu et al., 2022). Oxidative stress arises when the balance between the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and their neutralisation by antioxidant systems is disrupted. Under physiological conditions, ROS act as signalling molecules, but excessive accumulation – which can be induced by both endogenous sources (e.g., mitochondria, NADPH oxidases, endoplasmic reticulum) and exogenous sources (UV radiation, heavy metals) – damages DNA, lipids, and proteins. To mitigate this risk, cells activate intrinsic antioxidant mechanisms, while exogenous antioxidants are being investigated as potential protective agents. Oxidative stress is a key factor in the development of many chronic diseases, and its modulation is considered a critical target for the development of effective therapeutic strategies (Aranda-Rivera et al., 2022).

Under pathological conditions, including chronic oxidative stress, hyperglycaemia, or UV exposure, cellular stress-response mechanisms become weakened, resulting in the formation of damaged protein aggregates, disrupted intracellular homeostasis, and the initiation of structural changes throughout the lens. In LECs, endoplasmic reticulum stress activation triggers the unfolded protein response, ROS generation, and ultimately cell death – processes that have also been observed in experimental galactosemia models prior to the clinical manifestation of cataracts (Mulhern et al., 2007). During ageing, the functional capacity of LECs gradually declines, which can lead to significant impairments in protein synthesis and transport. Consequently, the deeper layers of the lens become particularly vulnerable to oxidative, osmotic, and proteotoxic damage, promoting protein aggregation, fibre cell degeneration, and the development of nuclear cataracts. Therefore, LEC dysfunction is widely recognised as one of the central pathogenic mechanisms in age-related cataract formation (Yanshole et al., 2019).

Crystallins are the primary structural proteins in the human lens, constituting up to 90 % of the total protein mass in fibre cells (Surguchev & Surguchov, 2010). Their high concentration and spatially organised structure ensure lens transparency, minimal light scattering, and high refractive power. Crystallins are classified into three main groups: α -, β -, and γ -crystallins (Andley, 2007).

 α -Crystallins, particularly the α A and α B subunits, possess molecular chaperone activity in addition to their structural role, preventing the denaturation and aggregation of other proteins (Derham & Harding, 1999). This protective function allows the lens to maintain its optical properties even during ageing and cellular stress. α -Crystallins also participate in cytoskeletal stabilisation, apoptosis inhibition, and enhancing cellular resistance to oxidative and other stressors (Kamradt et al., 2005). Studies indicate that α -crystallin activity is not limited to lens fibre cells – they are also active in LECs and extra lenticular tissues, including the retina, myocardium, brain, and skeletal muscles (Srinivasan et al., 1992). Mutations in α -crystallin genes alter the structure of the lens refractive index gradient, promoting loss of transparency, while local administration of oxysterol compounds improved refractive profile regularity in 61 % of cases and reduced opacity levels by 46 % in mice (Wang et al., 2022).

 β -Crystallins primarily form polymers that contribute to the organisation of the fibre cell cytoskeleton, whereas γ -crystallins are dense, compact monomeric structures that provide the high density of the lens nucleus and precise light refraction (Serebryany & King, 2014). Both β - and γ -crystallins are among the most stable and long-lived proteins in the human body; however, with ageing, they can aggregate into high-molecular-weight complexes that scatter

light and promote cataract formation, despite the presence of α -crystallin chaperones in the lens (Bari, 2021).

The ocular lens is a dynamic organ that continues to grow throughout life, continuously adding new fibre cells at the periphery, while the inner layers – embryologically early fibres – remain structurally unchanged. This concentric layering of fibres determines the anatomical division of the lens into the nucleus and cortex (Ruan et al., 2020). To maintain optical clarity, the lens relies on an effective antioxidant defence system, whose main components are glutathione, ascorbic acid, and the enzyme superoxide dismutase (Lou, 2003). A decrease in glutathione levels is considered one of the earliest biochemical indicators of cataract formation and may potentially serve as a biological marker for early diagnosis (Giblin, 2000).

Lens cell metabolism is maintained through continuous circulation of the aqueous humour, which supplies nutrients and removes metabolic waste products. This fluid is synthesised by the ciliary body pars plicata epithelium and circulates through the pupil into the anterior chamber, from where it is primarily drained via the trabecular meshwork and Schlemm's canal into the ocular venous drainage system (Grüb & Mielke, 2004). The aqueous humour functions as a vital transport system, delivering glucose, amino acids, and electrolytes, while helping maintain osmotic balance and facilitating the removal of byproducts of oxidative metabolism (Goel et al., 2010; Mathias et al., 2007). Since most lens fibre cells lack mitochondria, energy production in these cells relies primarily on anaerobic glycolysis, rendering them particularly sensitive to hypoxia and disruptions in glucose supply (Shui & Beebe, 2008). Disturbances in the composition or flow of aqueous humour, which may result from oxidative stress or metabolic imbalance, promote cellular swelling, protein aggregation, and loss of intracellular homeostasis, which in turn can lead to the development of lens opacity – a hallmark of cataract formation (Dammak et al., 2023).

The aqueous humour is a clear, water-like biological fluid that fills the anterior and posterior chambers of the eye. Its composition consists primarily of water (98–99 %), as well as electrolytes (sodium, potassium, chloride, bicarbonate), organic compounds (amino acids, glutathione, ascorbic acid, urea, lactate), proteins (e. g. immunoglobulins, transforming growth factor beta 2 (TGF-β2), α-melanocyte-stimulating hormone), and gases (oxygen, carbon dioxide) (Bansal et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2025). Physiologically, the aqueous humour serves several essential functions: it helps maintain intraocular pressure, provides trophic support to avascular tissues, including the cornea, lens, and vitreous body, and participates in the removal of metabolic waste and toxic metabolites (Tram et al., 2021). Quantitative and qualitative changes in the aqueous humour are associated with various ophthalmic pathologies. For instance, in glaucoma, impaired fluid outflow can lead to increased intraocular pressure

(Ofri, 2002), whereas in inflammatory conditions such as uveitis, the fluid often contains inflammatory cells and elevated protein levels (Kalsy et al., 1990). Therefore, studying the composition of the aqueous humour provides valuable information about the state of the intraocular environment and allows indirect assessment of metabolic processes in the tissues it nourishes and protects.

Anterior chamber volume (ACV) and depth (ACD) are important biometric parameters of the anterior segment of the eye, reflecting the spatial configuration of intraocular anatomy and potentially influencing the efficiency of aqueous humour circulation (Lei et al., 2022). These parameters are dynamic and can change in various ophthalmic pathologies, including cataract, glaucoma, and pseudoexfoliation syndrome. Considering that the lens physiologically grows throughout life, gradually increasing in thickness (Cheng et al., 2019), the anterior chamber space progressively decreases, leading not only to mechanical alterations in the pattern of aqueous humour flow but also to potential accumulation of metabolic products around the lens.

Such local microenvironmental disturbances can act as significant modulators of cataract pathogenesis, particularly in situations where oxidative balance or metabolite clearance mechanisms are affected. Therefore, assessing the anterior chamber space can provide valuable insights into aqueous humour dynamics and its potential impact on lens status (He et al., 2016). In addition, analysis of the aqueous humour metabolome allows for the identification of specific metabolites whose presence correlates with the degree of lens maturation, thus offering potential biomarkers for predicting cataract progression (Yanshole et al., 2019). Modern imaging and fluid analysis techniques provide highly precise insights into the intraocular microenvironment, revealing mechanisms that were previously accessible only through postmortem histology.

Although metabolic disturbances are often associated with specific metabolites – for example, diabetes with altered glucose levels or cardiovascular diseases with cholesterol metabolism – it is essential to recognise that biochemical processes do not occur in isolation but are closely interconnected and influence one another (Poznyak et al., 2020). Such a systemic understanding is particularly important in modern metabolic research, as the organism's metabolic homeostasis relies on the balance of complex pathways, where even small alterations in one node can have widespread effects elsewhere. The rapid development of analytical chemistry, especially in mass spectrometry and high-resolution liquid chromatography, enables the simultaneous identification and quantification of a broad spectrum of endogenous metabolites using one or more metabolomics platforms (Lamers et al., 2003). These methods provide the opportunity to delve into metabolic pathway interactions, allowing interpretation of

both physiological and pathological changes in human tissues or the organism as a whole. To understand the biological significance of deviations in individual metabolite concentrations – and, more importantly, to anticipate potential corrective interventions in nutrition, pharmacology, or lifestyle – an in-depth understanding of metabolic pathway functioning and their regulatory interplay is required (German et al., 2005).

Metabolic changes are not only observable experimentally but also can be analysed in detail using modern analytical methods, offering insight into their impact on specific biochemical pathways and cellular functional mechanisms. The feasibility of such approaches is supported by the fact that the study of biochemical processes has been a central focus of natural sciences development for over a century (German et al., 2005).

Aim of the study

The aim of this study is to characterise the differences in anterior chamber depth and volume, as well as the intraocular fluid metabolome, in cataract patients according to lens hardness.

Objectives

Primary objectives:

- 1 To analyse the differences in intraocular fluid metabolome composition in patients with varying degrees of lens hardness.
- 2 To assess anterior chamber depth and volume parameters according to lens hardness.
- 3 To investigate statistical associations between lens hardness, intraocular fluid metabolite profiles, and anterior chamber biometric parameters.

Secondary objectives:

- 1 To analyse changes in intraocular fluid metabolome composition in patients with pseudoexfoliation syndrome.
- 2 To characterise intraocular fluid metabolome features in patients with glaucoma.
- 3 To evaluate intraocular fluid metabolome differences in patients with diabetes mellitus.

Hypotheses

- Patients with greater anterior chamber depth and volume exhibit faster progression of higher-grade lens hardness cataracts.
- Cataract patients possess a specific intraocular fluid metabolite profile that correlates with lens hardness.

Novelty of the study

The novelty of this study lies in its potential contribution to a deeper understanding of cataract pathophysiology, particularly through the analysis of intraocular fluid composition. The research will provide new insights into biomarkers that may serve as a basis for more precise cataract diagnosis, disease prognosis, and the development of personalised therapeutic approaches. By identifying biochemical and molecular indicators associated with cataract progression, this work aims to enhance clinical practice and potentially delay vision loss.

Given that cataract is a protein aggregation disorder, the study's findings may also provide valuable insights into other proteostasis-related pathologies. Notably, these include neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, where protein misfolding and aggregation underpin pathogenesis. Data obtained on intraocular fluid metabolic and antioxidant characteristics may open new avenues for early diagnosis and molecular therapy of these systemic diseases, strengthening interdisciplinary approaches to protein aggregation disorders research.

This innovative approach not only promotes advancements in ophthalmology but also offers broader public health benefits by supporting personalised medicine and cross-disciplinary collaboration in addressing chronic degenerative diseases.

Personal contribution

This study involves direct clinical and research work with cataract patients. I personally performed cataract surgeries, during which intraocular fluid was collected, ensuring high-quality and sterile samples for subsequent biochemical analysis. In parallel with the surgical procedures, I participated in data processing, including evaluation of patients' clinical profiles, analysis of laboratory results, and their correlation with cataract pathophysiological indicators.

Ethical considerations

Ethical oversight was provided by the Ethics Committee of Rīga Stradiņš University (approval No 2-PEK-4/307/2023, dated March 21, 2023), and the study was authorised by Pauls Stradiņš Clinical University Hospital. All study participants provided written informed consent, and the research was conducted in full accordance with the ethical principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki (Association, 2025).

Discussion

Influence of Anterior Chamber Volume and Depth on Lens Hardness

The results of our study did not show statistically significant associations between ocular biometric parameters and lens hardness. Although it has been established that the lens thickens with age, primarily due to protein aggregation and structural changes, our data did not indicate an impact of these processes on anterior chamber volume (ACV) or anterior chamber depth (ACD). While ACV measurement has not yet been incorporated into routine clinical practice, it is increasingly recognised as a promising parameter for the diagnosis, management, and surgical planning of various eye diseases (Coakes et al., 1979). Quantitative assessment of ACV may provide valuable contributions to glaucoma diagnosis and monitoring, cataract surgery strategy selection, evaluation of refractive surgery candidates, and the study of anterior segment pathologies.

Among all analysed patient groups, the most pronounced biometric differences were observed in patients with pseudoexfoliation syndrome (PEXS). In this group, the reduced ACD, ACV, and shorter axial eye length may be associated with anterior displacement of the lens and weakening of the zonular structures (Hayashi et al., 2024). These factors potentially increase lens mobility, the risk of dislocation, and vitreous loss during cataract surgery, emphasising the need for careful preoperative evaluation in these patients.

Furthermore, our results highlight that the stability of ACV and ACD, even in cases of progressive cataract, may reflect the eye's compensatory mechanisms within the anterior segment. These observations suggest that anterior chamber biometric parameters may not serve as early markers of cataract progression but rather as secondary factors influencing intraoperative risk. This is particularly important for surgical planning, as minor changes in ACV or ACD may become clinically relevant only in combination with other risk factors, such as zonular weakness or the presence of PEX. Such an interpretation indicates that the value of biometric data lies not only in a direct correlation with lens hardness but also in its ability to complement the patient's individual risk profile prior to cataract surgery.

Although the initial hypothesis proposed a strong correlation between glaucoma and ACV parameters, this assumption was not confirmed in our study. Nevertheless, the literature describes studies in which the relationship between ACV and intraocular pressure is considered a potential predictor of treatment efficacy, particularly in patients receiving therapy with prostaglandin analogues (Scott et al., 2021). Additionally, ACV is recognised as an important risk factor in predicting primary angle-closure glaucoma (Pakravan et al., 2012).

An important contribution of our study is the testing and validation of an ACV calculation formula using available biometric data. The developed method allows for

the estimation of ACV without the need for expensive equipment such as Pentacam or AS-OCT. This provides significant advantages in resource-limited settings, where access to advanced technologies is restricted. Implementing such alternative approaches in clinical practice could promote broader use of ACV measurements and improve the accessibility of diagnosis and treatment for ocular diseases on a global scale.

Metabolomic differences in patients with varying lens hardness

Metabolic processes as a basis of cataract pathogenesis

Glutathione (GSH) is the main intracellular antioxidant in lens tissues, playing a crucial role in protecting crystallins from oxidative damage and maintaining the oxidative-reducing balance within cells (Jiao et al., 2023; Truscott & Friedrich, 2016). GSH functions both as a direct ROS scavenger and as a coenzyme in various enzymatic detoxification pathways, including glutathione peroxidase and glutathione-S-transferase systems (Deng et al., 2025). Additionally, GSH participates in the reduction of protein disulphide bonds, helping preserve structural integrity (Georgiou-Siafis & Tsiftsoglou, 2023; Giustarini et al., 2017). Reduced GSH levels lead to oxidative protein modifications, misfolding, and cross-linking, gradually disrupting lens fibre transparency and promoting opacity progression – the main pathogenic mechanism of cataract (Truscott, 2005). Taurine, one of the dominant non-protein amino acids present in the aqueous humour, complements GSH's antioxidant activity by stabilising cell membranes, inhibiting excessive calcium influx, and regulating osmotic balance (Froger et al., 2014). Furthermore, taurine has been shown to enhance intracellular GSH uptake, providing an additional mechanism for cellular protection against oxidative stress (Baliou et al., 2021). Taurine levels in lens tissues decrease with age, correlating with increased oxidative burden and higher risk of cellular damage. This dynamic may represent a key mechanism driving age-related changes in lens tissues (Singh et al., 2023). The interaction between GSH and taurine illustrates a synergistic antioxidant network essential for maintaining the structural and functional integrity of the lens.

The third essential component – nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) – is not only a central cofactor in cellular energy metabolism, participating in glycolysis, the tricarboxylic acid cycle, and oxidative phosphorylation, but also indispensable for maintaining redox homeostasis (Pehar et al., 2018; Xiao et al., 2018). Changes in the NAD⁺/NADH ratio or a reduction in total NAD⁺ levels can disrupt cellular biological balance and promote the development of various processes, including ageing, neurodegenerative diseases, and tumour formation (Amjad et al., 2021). NAD⁺ is also required for the synthesis of the reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH), which is critically important

for the regeneration of GSH from its oxidised form glutathione (GSSG), thereby ensuring effective cellular protection against oxidative stress (Lu, 2013). During ageing, NAD⁺ reserves become depleted, impairing these protective mechanisms and promoting alternative metabolic pathways, including tryptophan catabolism via the kynurenine pathway (Kincaid & Berger, 2020). This metabolic shift leads to the accumulation of potentially toxic intermediates, such as 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK) and xanthurenic acid, which are associated with increased cell death and structural alterations (Wang et al., 2025).

The metabolite profile changes observed in our study in the aqueous humour indicate significant destabilisation of cellular energy and redox balance systems, which closely correlate with lens hardness and the stage of cataract progression. In particular, alterations in mitochondrial β-oxidation end products, such as acetylcarnitine levels, suggest impaired fatty acid transport and incomplete ATP synthesis (Merritt et al., 2018). This energy deficit, especially under the hypoxic conditions of the lens nucleus, promotes increased oxidative stress and diminishes the cell's ability to protect crystallin proteins from denaturation and aggregation, thereby facilitating the development of lens opacification.

These mechanisms create a pathophysiological cycle: protein damage caused by oxidative stress drives intensive GSH consumption and depletion. As GSH levels decrease, redox balance is disrupted, which in turn reduces NAD⁺ availability. NAD⁺ deficiency further enhances tryptophan metabolism via the kynurenine pathway, leading to the accumulation of potentially toxic intermediates such as 3-HK. These metabolites induce cell death in LECs and fibre cells, resulting in impaired lens structural integrity and progressive loss of transparency.

These findings reinforce the notion that cataract is not merely a passive, age-related structural change but rather a biochemically active, dynamically progressing pathology that could potentially be modulated through targeted metabolic interventions, including taurine, NAD+ precursors, vitamin B₆, and GSH analogues.

Taurine

Taurine is a sulphur-containing amino acid found at high concentrations in tissues exposed to elevated oxidative stress, including the ocular lens, myocardium, and central nervous system. In the lens, taurine and total protein concentrations decrease with advancing cataract stage, although this decline is not directly correlated with age (Anthrayose & Shashidhar, 2004). Taurine is taken up from the bloodstream, and its tissue levels largely depend on dietary intake, particularly from animal-derived sources such as meat, fish, and dairy products (Duan et al., 2023). Its antioxidant properties involve neutralising free radicals and stabilising cell membrane structure and function (Jong et al., 2021). Taurine plays a particularly

important role in LECs, which are exposed to prolonged UV radiation and associated oxidative damage. Beyond osmolarity regulation, taurine acts as a metabolic modulator, participating in calcium homeostasis, inflammatory processes, and apoptosis regulation (Ripps & Shen, 2012).

Taurine was first identified in 1827, isolated from ox bile, and its name is derived from the Latin word *taurus* (Tiedemann & Gmelin, 1827). Today, taurine is produced industrially, typically using cysteine as a starting material, without relying on animal-derived sources. Experimental studies have shown that taurine effectively mitigates oxidative stress-induced cellular damage by promoting intracellular GSH uptake and stabilising the cell's redox balance (Hansen et al., 2010). These properties make taurine an important protective factor against oxidative stress-mediated damage, contributing to the prevention of cataract pathogenesis.

The study results highlight taurine's crucial cytoprotective role under cellular stress conditions, particularly through its ability to mitigate the consequences of oxidative damage, which is essential for maintaining the structural and functional integrity of various tissues, including the lens (Ma et al., 2021). Taurine also contributes to cellular homeostasis by modulating the balance between autophagy and apoptosis – two key mechanisms responsible for eliminating damaged organelles and proteins, as well as enabling adaptive responses to stress (El Idrissi & Trenkner, 2003; Jong et al., 2011). Taurine and its halamines (taurine chloramine and taurine bromamine) exhibit significant anti-inflammatory and cytoprotective effects by neutralising myeloperoxidase-derived oxidants at sites of inflammation, thereby reducing oxidative stress and tissue damage (Marcinkiewicz & Kontny, 2014). Experimental evidence further demonstrates that taurine can attenuate mitochondria-induced apoptosis by inhibiting caspase cascade activation (Schaffer et al., 2010). This protective effect is particularly critical in lens fibre cells, where cell loss is irreversible due to the lack of proliferative or regenerative capacity, positioning taurine as a potentially valuable therapeutic target for mitigating cataract pathogenesis.

Experimental animal studies indicate that taurine supplementation provides significant protection for the lens against oxidative and osmotic damage. Its protective effect is closely linked to the maintenance of GSH levels, a mechanism central to cataract pathogenesis. Taurine administration in experimental models normalised GSH concentrations and reduced malondialdehyde levels – a byproduct of lipid peroxidation – demonstrating its antioxidant activity (Sevin et al., 2021). Taurine also has the ability to neutralise free radicals and protect lens proteins from glycation, the uncontrolled binding of sugars to proteins, which is a key mechanism driving cataract development (Devamanoharan et al., 1997). For example, in a Pacific Spring rat model where lenses were exposed to high glucose concentrations (55.6 mM) to mimic diabetic cataract formation, supplementation with 30 mM taurine prevented

the reduction of GSH levels and decreased protein carbonylation, a marker of oxidative damage (Son et al., 2007). Similar protective effects were observed in a rabbit model with GSH deficiency, where taurine significantly preserved the structural integrity of the lens (Malone et al., 1993).

Another important mechanism of taurine's action is its ability to preserve mitochondrial functional integrity. Taurine stabilises components of the mitochondrial respiratory chain and reduces ROS generation within the mitochondrial matrix, thereby preventing the initiation of lipid peroxidation cascades (Seneff & Kyriakopoulos, 2025). This mitochondrial protective effect is particularly significant, given that mitochondria serve simultaneously as a primary source of ROS and a major target for oxidative damage (Kuznetsov et al., 2022).

Taurine not only possesses antioxidant properties but also exerts significant neuromodulatory and neurotropic effects, influencing the functional state of various ocular structures, including the lens, retina, and ciliary body cells (Wu & Prentice, 2010). In the context of lens physiology, taurine's osmoregulatory function is particularly important, as it stabilises cell volume and helps prevent the development of intracellular oedema (Trachtman et al., 1988). This mechanism is crucial given its relevance to cataract progression, especially in metabolic disorders such as diabetic or hyperosmolar cataracts.

Interestingly, the age-related decline in taurine concentration is observed not only in the anterior segment of the eye but also systemically – in plasma and the brain – highlighting its potential as a biomarker of biological ageing. Studies across various species, including mice, non-human primates, and humans, have shown that taurine levels gradually decrease with age, while supplementation in model organisms positively influences lifespan, suggesting a possible role of taurine in the ageing process (Singh et al., 2023). Experimental models demonstrate that taurine supplementation not only mitigates age-associated physiological changes but also enhances ATP synthesis efficiency, maintains telomere stability, and improves cellular survival (Mashyakhy et al., 2021; Sheikh & Iqbal, 2023). However, studies conducted by the National Institutes of Health indicate that taurine cannot be considered a universal ageing biomarker, as its concentration changes vary across populations; in humans, taurine levels show only weak correlations with functional health, including muscle strength and metabolic parameters (Fernandez et al., 2025).

Taurine also influences oncogenic cells. It can inhibit the proliferation of lung cancer cells and tumour growth by inducing apoptosis through the PUMA–Bax pathway and suppressing Bcl-2, suggesting potential anticancer effects, at least in preclinical settings (Tu et al., 2018). Leukemic stem cells are unable to synthesise taurine endogenously and therefore acquire it from the bone marrow microenvironment via the taurine transporter (TauT);

this interaction promotes glycolysis and supports malignant cell proliferation. Researchers at the *University of Rochester* have shown that TauT inhibition in vivo suppresses leukemic cell expansion and significantly extends survival, highlighting new potential therapeutic avenues (Sharma et al., 2025). Taurine, abundantly present in neutrophils, reacts with myeloperoxidase-generated hypochlorous acid to form taurine chloramine, reducing oxidative damage and limiting excessive neutrophil degranulation (Kim et al., 2020). This antioxidative and anti-inflammatory action may also be relevant for protecting lens tissues in the context of cataract development.

These findings suggest that taurine functions not merely as a passive antioxidant but as an active regulator, maintaining cellular structural and functional integrity – particularly within the ocular lens microenvironment, where disruptions in redox balance can rapidly impair visual quality. Consequently, maintaining taurine levels, especially in older individuals, could serve as a prophylactic or therapeutic strategy for cataract management, particularly when combined with other redox-modulating compounds such as NAD⁺ precursors or agents that stimulate GSH synthesis.

NAD+ Deficiency and the Tryptophan-Kynurenine Metabolic Pathway

NAD⁺ is a central coenzyme in cellular bioenergetics and redox regulation (Braidy & Liu, 2020). Its functions extend beyond the classical role as an electron acceptor in oxidative phosphorylation – NAD⁺ is also involved in DNA repair and maintenance of mitochondrial function and serves as a substrate for NAD⁺-dependent enzymes, such as sirtuins and poly-ADP-ribose polymerases, which are actively engaged in cellular stress response mechanisms (Houtkooper et al., 2012).

With ageing, NAD⁺ levels physiologically decline, leading to mitochondrial dysfunction, loss of redox balance, and weakening of cellular defence mechanisms (McReynolds et al., 2020). In lens cells, these changes manifest as reduced GSH regeneration due to limited NADPH synthesis from NADP⁺, as well as a diminished capacity to neutralise oxidative stress.

NAD⁺ can also be synthesised via the Preiss-Handler pathway, in which nicotinic acid is converted into nicotinamide mononucleotide and subsequently into NAD⁺ (Bieganowski & Brenner, 2004). One of the main endogenous NAD⁺ biosynthesis routes is the kynurenine pathway, which is activated under cellular stress, inflammation, or oxidative damage (Ogbechi et al., 2020). In this pathway, the enzyme indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) regulates the conversion of tryptophan to KYN, which is further metabolised into NAD⁺ and other intermediates such as 3-HK, kynurenic acid (KYNA), and quinolinic acid (Savitz, 2020).

These metabolites can serve protective roles, but when excessively accumulated, they may damage proteins, induce apoptosis, and destabilise the lens microenvironment (Savitz et al., 2015). Studies in transgenic mice with elevated IDO expression in the lens demonstrate that increased enzyme activity promotes KYN accumulation, induces lens epithelial cell apoptosis, and accelerates cataract formation (Mailankot et al., 2009).

In our study, in the early stage of cataract (SPONCS 2), we observed significantly elevated IDO activity, likely reflecting a compensatory response to increasing oxidative stress and UV exposure. These results suggest that lens epithelial cells initially activate alternative NAD+ biosynthesis pathways to restore energy homeostasis and maintain cellular structural integrity. However, as cataract progression advances, IDO activity decreases, likely due to lens epithelial cell apoptosis and reduced enzyme expression.

At the same time, it was observed that the levels of kynurenine derivatives, particularly 3-HK, increase in the late stages of cataract (SPONCS 4–5), reaching maximum concentration. These compounds are recognised as phototoxic, pro-apoptotic, and pro-oxidative factors, whose accumulation can promote crystallin denaturation, cross-linking, and a reduction in lens transparency (Korlimbinis & Truscott, 2006). Interferon gamma (IFN-γ) stimulates IDO expression in lens epithelial cells by activating the JAK–STAT1 pathway, which promotes the production of kynurenine, especially 3-HK. These metabolites induce oxidative stress and apoptosis, representing an important mechanism in cataract development associated with chronic inflammation (Mailankot & Nagaraj, 2010).

Fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2) is important for lens fibre cell differentiation. Kynurenine inhibits FGF2-induced crystallin and MIP26 expression in mouse lens epithelial cells by suppressing Akt and ERK1/2 phosphorylation, without affecting FGF2 receptor binding. These findings suggest that KYN can disrupt fibre cell differentiation by blocking the production of essential proteins (Mailankot et al., 2010). Immunohistochemical analyses confirm the expression of kynurenine aminotransferases (KAT I–III) in the lens extracellular matrix already in the early stages of cataract, indicating active involvement of the kynurenine pathway in cellular adaptation and degeneration processes (Rejdak et al., 2013).

Such metabolic dynamics highlight the importance of the kynurenine pathway in cataract pathogenesis, and its modulation – such as IDO inhibition or stimulation of KAT activity – may serve as a potential therapeutic approach. Moreover, not only the absolute NAD⁺ level but also the quality of its biosynthetic pathway and the associated metabolite profile are critical factors in cataract development. Therefore, a strategy combining supplementation with NAD⁺ precursors, such as nicotinamide riboside, with modulation of IDO activity or 3-HK formation could offer a novel metabolism-based approach for cataract prevention and therapy.

KAT activity as a biomarker and therapeutic target

KAT is a key enzyme in the tryptophan–kynurenine metabolic pathway that catalyses the conversion of KYN into KYNA, a metabolite with pronounced neuroprotective, antioxidant, and photoprotective properties. KYNA absorbs UV-A radiation (315-400 nm) and can act as a photosensitiser, forming a triplet state (3KNAH-) capable of reacting with other biomolecules. KYNA has been detected in human lens tissue at concentrations of approximately 1–2 μM/mg, and upon UV exposure, it can participate in oxidative modifications of proteins, potentially contributing to cataract development (Morozova et al., 2023). Under UV radiation, KYNA transitions to a triplet state and undergoes self-oxidation, generating reactive radicals that covalently bind to amino acids such as tryptophan and tyrosine. These findings indicate that KYNA can mediate protein modifications in living tissues and may play a role in UV-induced damage mechanisms (Morozova et al., 2023). In human and rat cataract models, increased KYNA concentrations and activation of KAT I/II expression have been observed, correlating with cataract severity (Zarnowski et al., 2005; Zarnowski et al., 2007). Elevated KYNA levels have also been detected in the plasma of multiple sclerosis patients, suggesting a potential protective role against excitotoxic damage (Hartai et al., 2005). Kynurenine pathway metabolites – KYN, 3-HK, and their glycosides – function as endogenous UV filters in the lens, absorbing harmful radiation and providing photoprotection. However, their increased binding to crystallins with age, coupled with potential photosensitising effects, may promote oxidative damage and contribute to cataractogenesis (Zarnowski et al., 2005).

KAT activity is crucial for maintaining lens transparency and structural integrity, as it regulates the balance between protective and potentially toxic kynurenine pathway metabolites. Our study data indicate that KAT activity reaches its peak in the early stage of cataract (SPONCS 2), when the lens can still actively counteract oxidative stress and direct kynurenine metabolism toward protective pathways. This elevated activity likely reflects a compensatory adaptive mechanism by which cells attempt to neutralise ROS induced by UV radiation and maintain redox balance.

However, as the disease progresses, our data show a gradual decline in KAT activity, particularly in SPONCS 4–5 stages. This regressive trend may be due to a decrease in pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (the active form of vitamin B₆), which is essential for KAT catalytic function (Whittaker, 2016), or structural enzyme damage caused by oxidative stress (Francisqueti et al., 2017). Enzyme function can also be impaired by post-translational modifications, such as nitrosylation (Song et al., 2011) or carbonylation (Ortuño-Sahagún et al., 2014), which are associated in the literature with the loss of various cellular functions during ageing.

Such KAT dysfunction leads to a reduction in KYNA synthesis, thereby decreasing photoprotective defence and increasing the likelihood that KYN is redirected into alternative pathways, such as 3-HK or quinolinic acid production. Both of these metabolites have pro-oxidative and pro-apoptotic effects and can crosslink crystallins, destabilising their structure and promoting lens opacity.

Interestingly, while other kynurenine pathway enzymes, such as kynurenine monooxygenase, appear relatively stable across different cataract stages, KAT exhibits the most pronounced activity gradient. This indicates KAT's particular sensitivity to microenvironmental changes, making it a potential indicator of metabolic alterations during cataract progression.

Thus, KAT can be considered not only a potential biomarker but also a target for therapeutic intervention strategies. In the early stage of the disease, supplementation with pyridoxal 5'-phosphate or KYNA analogues could be considered to enhance cellular protection against photo-oxidative damage. In later stages, approaches that reduce 3-HK accumulation or neutralise its effects – such as inhibiting caspase activation or promoting crystallin stabilisation – would be valuable.

Metabolic Differences in Patients with Various Ophthalmic Pathologies

Changes in Patients with PEXS

Our study results indicate that PEXS is associated with pronounced metabolic disturbances that promote cell death via the ferroptosis mechanism – a regulated, iron-dependent form of cell death characterised by lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress-induced cellular dysfunction. (Chen et al., 2021). Identified metabolic profiles, including elevated levels of cysteine and citrulline, as well as alterations in ubiquinone metabolism, suggest a weakening of antioxidant defence systems, particularly involving dysfunction of the glutamine–cystine antiporter (system Xc⁻) (de Baat et al., 2023). These observations emphasise that PEXS cannot be reduced solely to morphological changes in the anterior segment but rather reflects systemic disturbances in cellular metabolism and redox balance, which may be crucial for a deeper understanding of disease pathogenesis and the development of potential new therapeutic strategies (Scharfenberg & Schlötzer-Schrehardt, 2012).

These findings significantly expand the current understanding of PEXS pathophysiology, offering a conceptually new perspective on disease origin – not merely as a localised fibrillar material accumulation process, but as a systemically regulated metabolic dysfunction with potentially destructive consequences for visual function (Zenkel & Schlötzer-Schrehardt, 2014). Furthermore, the metabolic biomarkers identified in this study,

involved in ferroptosis mechanisms and oxidative stress pathways, may provide a valuable foundation for developing novel therapeutic strategies. Targeted modulation of these metabolic pathways could, in the future, support metabolomics-based, personalised approaches to PEXS patient management, potentially reducing the risk of intraoperative complications during cataract surgery.

Changes in Patients with Glaucoma

Our study identified several metabolites potentially involved in the pathogenesis of glaucoma. In the glaucoma patient group, significant increases in the concentrations of tryptophan, phenylalanine, tyrosine, leucine, and glutamine were observed, suggesting disruptions in aromatic amino acid metabolism (Lynch & Dudareva, 2020). These alterations may be linked to reduced activity of aromatic amino acid hydroxylases, which depend on tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄) – an essential cofactor in various enzymatic processes, including nitric oxide (NO) synthesis (Kim & Han, 2020). BH₄ deficiency can arise under conditions of oxidative stress, impaired biosynthesis or recycling of BH₄, or due to polymorphisms in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene (Raghubeer & Matsha, 2021). Such metabolic disturbances may contribute to increased intraocular pressure through reduced NO bioavailability (Aliancy et al., 2017) and promote the neurodegenerative processes characteristic of glaucoma (Lionaki et al., 2022).

The identified metabolic disturbances suggest that glaucoma development may involve not only elevated intraocular pressure but also systemic factors affecting cellular metabolism, including redox imbalance and disruptions in amino acid metabolism (Wang et al., 2021). Elevated levels of glutamine and leucine may reflect cellular attempts to activate neuroprotective compensatory mechanisms, mitigating excitotoxic damage (Lotery, 2005). These findings further support the concept of glaucoma as a multifactorial neurodegenerative disease modulated by metabolic processes, with the biopterin pathway potentially playing a significant role (Eichwald et al., 2023). Consequently, future research in this area could facilitate the identification of new metabolic biomarkers and support the use of antioxidant or metabolically targeted therapies for glaucoma prevention and treatment.

Changes in Patients with Diabetes

Our study identified significant metabolic differences in the aqueous humour between patients with and without diabetes undergoing cataract extraction. In the diabetic patient group, markedly elevated concentrations of 3-HK, histamine, and octanoylcarnitine were observed, along with reduced levels of putrescine. Overall, these findings indicate disrupted tryptophan metabolism, increased oxidative stress, and potential inflammatory activity in the anterior

segment of the eye. Pathway enrichment analysis particularly highlighted activation of the kynurenine pathway, consistent with growing evidence of its involvement in diabetes-induced oxidative and neurodegenerative damage (Kozieł & Urbanska, 2023).

The obtained results confirm that diabetes-induced pathophysiological processes in the anterior segment of the eye are also reflected in the metabolic profile, providing further evidence of systemic metabolic dysregulation in these patients (Dolar-Szczasny et al., 2024). The identified metabolites may serve as potential biomarkers with possible diagnostic or prognostic significance, particularly in the context of diabetic retinopathy development or progression (Ma et al., 2024). However, given the adjustments for multiple testing and the higher error rate, these results should be interpreted cautiously and considered hypothesis-generating, requiring confirmation in independent cohort studies.

Conclusions

- Patients with higher-grade lens hardness exhibited statistically significant differences in the aqueous humour metabolome, particularly in antioxidant systems, amino acid metabolism, and the kynurenine pathway. These results confirm the hypothesis of a specific metabolite profile depending on the stage of cataract development.
- 2 Anterior chamber depth and volume in our study did not show a statistically significant association with lens hardness; therefore, the hypothesis that larger ACD and ACV accelerate cataract progression was not confirmed.
- Patients with PEXS demonstrated both pronounced biometric and metabolic changes: reduced ACD, ACV, and axial eye length, as well as a metabolome profile reflecting ferroptosis activation and impaired antioxidant defence. These results indicate that PEXS is not only a structural disorder but also a systemic metabolic dysregulation disease.
- 4 Glaucoma patients showed significant metabolic alterations, including increased levels of tryptophan, phenylalanine, tyrosine, leucine, and glutamine, indicating disturbed aromatic amino acid metabolism and possible BH₄ deficiency. This enhances the understanding of glaucoma as a multifactorial metabolic and neurodegenerative disease.
- Patients with diabetes mellitus exhibited significant aqueous humour metabolome changes, including increased 3-HK, histamine, and octanoylcarnitine, along with decreased putrescine. These changes reflect activation of the kynurenine pathway, oxidative stress, and inflammatory processes in the anterior segment, and may serve as potential biomarkers for the management of diabetes-related ocular complications.

Theoretical insights into cataract metabolic mechanisms

1 Ageing and redox imbalance

With ageing, the body experiences progressive redox imbalance, as ROS production exceeds antioxidant defence capacity, leading to oxidative stress in the lens and other tissues.

2 Role of glutathione in cataract pathogenesis

The GSH system in lens epithelial cells is the primary neutraliser of oxidative stress. Depletion of GSH reserves renders lens proteins more susceptible to lipid peroxidation and other oxidative modifications, promoting crystallin denaturation and increased lens opacity.

3 Protective function of taurine

Taurine acts as an additional antioxidant and osmolyte, maintaining cellular redox balance. Adequate taurine levels optimise GSH utilisation in ROS defence and help delay early cataractogenic mechanisms.

4 Activation of the kynurenine pathway under GSH deficiency

When GSH reserves are depleted, cells activate alternative antioxidant mechanisms, including the tryptophan–kynurenine pathway. Elevated IDO and KAT activity in this pathway promotes KYNA production.

5 Accumulation of toxic intermediates – 3-HK

Insufficient availability of cofactors, such as vitamin B6, limits proper processing of kynurenine pathway metabolites, leading to pro-oxidant and phototoxic 3-HK accumulation. These toxic intermediates promote protein carbonylation, apoptosis, and further ROS generation, creating a vicious cycle that accelerates lens opacification.

6 Strategies for preserving human lens transparency

To slow cataract progression, an integrated approach is required, including:

- Restoration of GSH reserves (e.g., via GSH precursor supplementation),
- Maintaining optimal taurine levels,
- Modulating kynurenine pathway activity using IDO or KAT inhibitors, alongside cofactor restoration therapy.

Cataract pathogenesis is closely linked to metabolic and redox dysfunctions, where GSH deficiency and accumulation of toxic kynurenine pathway intermediates play key roles. These mechanisms not only enhance oxidative stress and protein aggregation but also disrupt NAD+ homeostasis and cellular energy metabolism, particularly under anaerobic conditions in the lens nucleus. Targeted metabolic therapies that simultaneously restore antioxidant defence systems (e.g., via GSH and taurine supplementation) and inhibit toxic intermediate formation during kynurenine or other stress pathway activation may offer an effective strategy for cataract prevention and slowing disease progression.

Proposals

Further research should focus on a deeper investigation of intraocular fluid metabolomics, integrating broader metabolite and lipid analyses. Such a multidisciplinary approach could identify novel biomarkers associated with cataract progression, particularly in more aggressive or rapidly advancing forms of the disease. Characterising metabolic changes may improve our understanding of redox imbalance, crystallin aggregation mechanisms, and cellular damage development across different cataract stages.

Special attention should be given to the kynurenine pathway and NAD⁺ metabolism in lens tissues. Future studies could examine the relationship between the accumulation of toxic kynurenine pathway intermediates and crystallin structural alterations, protein aggregation, and cell death mechanisms. Simultaneously, analysing NAD⁺ availability and its role in maintaining energy homeostasis is crucial, as NAD⁺ depletion may exacerbate redox imbalance and increase lens epithelial cell susceptibility to oxidative damage.

At the experimental level, future studies should evaluate the efficacy of metabolically targeted therapies, such as combined taurine and GSH donor administration, as well as NAD⁺ precursor supplementation. These therapeutic strategies may slow cataract progression by restoring antioxidant reserve systems and limiting toxic intermediate accumulation. Additionally, it will be important to assess the effectiveness of such interventions across different cataract stages to determine optimal preventive or therapeutic approaches.

Clinically, integrating intraocular fluid metabolite profiles as additional biomarkers could aid in early disease diagnosis and personalised surgical planning. This approach may be particularly valuable for patients with PEXS or other anterior segment instability risk factors, where timely risk stratification could reduce intraoperative complications. Accurate assessment of ACV and ACD, along with validated calculation formulas, could further enhance risk evaluation and surgical planning strategies.

Moreover, the findings and future studies have broader implications beyond ophthalmology, contributing to the understanding of other protein aggregation disorders, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. These conditions share similar underlying mechanisms – oxidative stress, NAD⁺ depletion, mitochondrial dysfunction, and structural protein alterations. A multidisciplinary approach combining metabolomics, biochemistry, and clinical practice may pave the way for personalised, targeted strategies in cataract prevention and treatment while advancing knowledge of age-related neurodegenerative and protein aggregation disorders.

List of publications, reports and patents on the topic of the Thesis

Publications:

- 1. Zemitis, A., Vanags, J., Fan, J., Klavins, K., Laganovska, G. (2024) Metabolomic Disparities in Intraocular Fluid Across Varied Stages of Cataract Progression: Implications for the Analysis of Cataract Development. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2024 Oct;40(8):477–485. doi: 10.1089/jop. 2024.0067. Epub 2024 Jul 8. PMID: 38976556.
- 2. Zemitis, A., Rizzuto, V., Lavrinovica, D., Vanags, J., Laganovska, G. (2024) Redefined Formula for Anterior Chamber Volume Calculation: Quantitative Analysis of Biometric Parameters Across Ocular Pathologies. *Clin Ophthalmol.* 2024 Dec 27;18:3989-3998. doi: 10.2147/OPTH.S495068. PMID: 39741797; PMCID: PMC11687106.
- 3. Zemitis, A., Vanags, J., Schiemer, T., Klavins, K., Laganovska, G. (2025) Aqueous humor metabolomic profiling identifies a distinct signature in pseudoexfoliation syndrome. Front Mol Biosci. 2025 Jan 23;11:1487115. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2024.1487115. PMID: 39917180; PMCID: PMC11798801.
- 4. Zemitis, A., Vanags, J., Klavins, K., Laganovska, G. (2025) The Role of IDO Activity in Cataract Progression: Correlation to Age and Cataract Severity. Curr Eye Res. 2025 May 27:1–7. doi: 10.1080/02713683.2025.2506118. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 40423999.
- 5. Zemitis, A., Vanags, J., Klavins, K., & Laganovska, G. (2025). Assessment of Kynurenine Pathway Enzyme Activity in Ocular Diseases: Associations with Cataract, Diabetes, Glaucoma, and Pseudoexfoliation Syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 14(13), 4529. doi: 10.3390/jcm14134529
- 6. Zemitis, A., Svjascenkova, L., Bleidele, S., Veitners, A., Vanags, J., Klavins, K., & Laganovska, G. (2025). Metabolic alterations in diabetic patients: aqueous humor profiling for biomarker discovery. *Amino acids*, *57*(1), 44. doi: 10.1007/s00726-025-03476-z

Reports and theses at international congresses and conferences:

- 1. Dr. Artūrs Zemītis "The role of anterior chamber depth, intraocular fluid and peripheral blood metabolome in predicting lens hardness in cataracta patiens." Update on Cornae and External Diseases Vilnius, Lietuva 14.04.2023
- 2. Dr. Artūrs Zemītis *"Kataraktas īpatnības glaukomas slimniekiem."* Glaukomas ķirurģijas aktualitātes Rīga, Latvija 02.12.2022.
- 3. Dr. Artūrs Zemītis "Hope for Sight: Vitrectomy in a Ukraine War Survivor after Rocket Explosion A Case Report" Baltic Eye Surgeons Talk Show vol.9 Rīga, Latvija 05.05.2023.
- 4. Dr. Artūrs Zemītis "*Tīklenes slimības*" Uzstāšanās ar mutisku referātu "Acs vielmaiņa." 24.11.2023. LAĀA sēde.
- 5. Dr. Artūrs Zemītis "Metaboloms un acis" Rīga, Latvija 16.05.2024.
- 6. Dr. Arturs Zemitis "Exploring the Distinct Metabolomic Profiles within the Intraocular Fluid of Cataract Patients" WOC 2024 Congress Vancouver, Canada 16.08.2024.
- 7. Arturs Zemitis, PhD. Juris Vanags, assoc. prof. Kristaps Klavins, prof. Guna Laganovska "Evaluating the 3-Hydroxykynurenine/Kynurenic Acid Ratio as a Diagnostic Biomarker for Cataract Progression."
- 8. Arturs Zemitis, PhD. Juris Vanags, assoc. prof. Kristaps Klavins, prof. Guna Laganovska "Metabolic Profiling of Aqueous Humour Reveals Biochemical Alterations Associated with Myopia" SOE 2025 ePoster

References

- 1. Aliancy, J., Stamer, W. D., & Wirostko, B. (2017). A Review of Nitric Oxide for the Treatment of Glaucomatous Disease. *Ophthalmol Ther*, 6(2), 221–232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40123-017-0094-6
- 2. Amjad, S., Nisar, S., Bhat, A. A., Shah, A. R., Frenneaux, M. P., Fakhro, K., Haris, M., Reddy, R., Patay, Z., Baur, J., & Bagga, P. (2021). Role of NAD(+) in regulating cellular and metabolic signaling pathways. *Mol Metab*, 49, 101195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2021.101195
- 3. Andley, U. P. (2007). Crystallins in the eye: Function and pathology. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 26(1), 78–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2006.10.003
- 4. Andley, U. P. (2008). The lens epithelium: focus on the expression and function of the alpha-crystallin chaperones. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 40(3), 317–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2007.10.034
- 5. Anthrayose, C. V., & Shashidhar, S. (2004). Studies on protein and taurine in normal, senile and diabetic cataractous human lenses. *Indian J Physiol Pharmacol*, 48(3), 357–360.
- 6. Aranda-Rivera, A. K., Cruz-Gregorio, A., Arancibia-Hernández, Y. L., Hernández-Cruz, E. Y., & Pedraza-Chaverri, J. (2022). RONS and Oxidative Stress: An Overview of Basic Concepts. *Oxygen*, 2(4), 437–478. https://www.mdpi.com/2673-9801/2/4/30
- 7. Association, W. M. (2025). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Participants. *Jama*, *333*(1), 71–74. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2024.21972
- 8. Baat de, A., Meier, D. T., Fontana, A., Böni-Schnetzler, M., & Donath, M. Y. (2023). Cystine/Glutamate antiporter system xc- deficiency impairs macrophage glutathione metabolism and cytokine production. *PLoS One*, *18*(10), e0291950. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0291950
- 9. Baliou, S., Adamaki, M., Ioannou, P., Pappa, A., Panayiotidis, M. I., Spandidos, D. A., Christodoulou, I., Kyriakopoulos, A. M., & Zoumpourlis, V. (2021). Protective role of taurine against oxidative stress (Review). *Mol Med Rep*, 24(2). https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2021.12242
- 10. Bansal, A., Amin, H., & Rekha, R. (2021). Correlation of aqueous humor electrolytes with serum electrolytes in cataract patients. *Indian J Ophthalmol*, 69(10), 2675–2677. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijo.IJO 20 21
- 11. Bari, K. J. (2021). The structural biology of crystallin aggregation: challenges and outlook. *The FEBS Journal*, 288(20), 5888–5902. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15684
- 12. Bassnett, S., & Šikić, H. (2017). The lens growth process. *Progress in retinal and eye research*, 60, 181–200. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2017.04.001
- 13. Bieganowski, P., & Brenner, C. (2004). Discoveries of nicotinamide riboside as a nutrient and conserved NRK genes establish a Preiss-Handler independent route to NAD+ in fungi and humans. *Cell*, *117*(4), 495–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(04)00416-7
- 14. Bourne, R. R. A., Flaxman, S. R., Braithwaite, T., Cicinelli, M. V., Das, A., Jonas, J. B., Keeffe, J., Kempen, J. H., Leasher, J., Limburg, H., Naidoo, K., Pesudovs, K., Resnikoff, S., Silvester, A., Stevens, G. A., Tahhan, N., Wong, T. Y., Taylor, H. R., Bourne, R., . . . Zheng, Y. (2017). Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*, 5(9), e888–e897. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30293-0
- 15. Braidy, N., & Liu, Y. (2020). NAD+ therapy in age-related degenerative disorders: A benefit/risk analysis. *Exp Gerontol*, *132*, 110831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2020.110831
- 16. Cedrone, C., Culasso, F., Cesareo, M., Mancino, R., Ricci, F., Cupo, G., & Cerulli, L. (1999). Prevalence and incidence of age-related cataract in a population sample from Priverno, Italy. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol*, 6(2), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1076/opep.6.2.95.1562
- 17. Cetinel, S., Unsworth, L., & Montemagno, C. (2014). Peptide-based treatment strategies for cataract. *J Glaucoma*, 23(8 Suppl 1), S73–76. https://doi.org/10.1097/ijg.000000000000111

- 18. Chen, X., Li, J., Kang, R., Klionsky, D. J., & Tang, D. (2021). Ferroptosis: machinery and regulation. *Autophagy*, *17*(9), 2054–2081. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1810918
- 19. Chen, Y., Zhang, X., Zhang, Y., Zhang, S., Huo, Y., Wu, Y., Shen, L., & Mao, J. (2025). Metabolomic Characteristics of Aqueous Humor in Wet Age-Related Macular Degeneration and the Impact of Anti-VEGF Treatment. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 66(2), 37. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.66.2.37
- 20. Cheng, C., Parreno, J., Nowak, R. B., Biswas, S. K., Wang, K., Hoshino, M., Uesugi, K., Yagi, N., Moncaster, J. A., Lo, W. K., Pierscionek, B., & Fowler, V. M. (2019). Age-related changes in eye lens biomechanics, morphology, refractive index and transparency. *Aging (Albany NY)*, 11(24), 12497–12531. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.102584
- 21. Chiou, S. H., Chang, W. P., Ting, L. M., Lai, T. A., & Lin, H. K. (1988). Biochemical characterization of lens crystallins from three mammalian species. *Curr Eye Res*, 7(10), 1017–1022. https://doi.org/10.3109/02713688809015148
- 22. Chua, J., Koh, J. Y., Tan, A. G., Zhao, W., Lamoureux, E., Mitchell, P., Wang, J. J., Wong, T. Y., & Cheng, C. Y. (2015). Ancestry, Socioeconomic Status, and Age-Related Cataract in Asians: The Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study. *Ophthalmology*, *122*(11), 2169–2178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2015.06.052
- 23. Coakes, R. L., Lloyd-Jones, D., & Hitchings, R. A. (1979). Anterior chamber volume. Its measurement and clinical application. *Trans Ophthalmol Soc UK (1962)*, 99(1), 78–81.
- 24. Dammak, A., Pastrana, C., Martin-Gil, A., Carpena-Torres, C., Peral Cerda, A., Simovart, M., Alarma, P., Huete-Toral, F., & Carracedo, G. (2023). Oxidative Stress in the Anterior Ocular Diseases: Diagnostic and Treatment. *Biomedicines*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines 11020292
- 25. Davis, G. (2016). The Evolution of Cataract Surgery. *Mo Med*, 113(1), 58–62.
- 26. Delaye, M., & Tardieu, A. (1983). Short-range order of crystallin proteins accounts for eye lens transparency. *Nature*, 302(5907), 415–417. https://doi.org/10.1038/302415a0
- 27. Deng, J., Peng, Z., Xia, Z., Mo, Y., Guo, L., Wei, J., Sun, L., & Liu, M. (2025). Five glutathione S-transferase isozymes played crucial role in the detoxification of aflatoxin B1 in chicken liver. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, *16*(1), 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-025-01189-7
- 28. Derham, B. K., & Harding, J. J. (1999). Alpha-crystallin as a molecular chaperone. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, *18*(4), 463–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1350-9462(98)00030-5
- 29. Devamanoharan, P. S., Ali, A. H., & Varma, S. D. (1997). Prevention of lens protein glycation by taurine. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 177(1), 245–250. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:10068 63322454
- 30. Dolar-Szczasny, J., Drab, A., & Rejdak, R. (2024). Biochemical Changes in Anterior Chamber of the Eye in Diabetic Patients-A Review. *J Clin Med*, *13*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm13092581
- 31. Duan, H., Song, W., Guo, J., & Yan, W. (2023). Taurine: A Source and Application for the Relief of Visual Fatigue. *Nutrients*, 15(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15081843
- 32. Eichwald, T., da Silva, L. B., Staats Pires, A. C., Niero, L., Schnorrenberger, E., Filho, C. C., Espíndola, G., Huang, W. L., Guillemin, G. J., Abdenur, J. E., & Latini, A. (2023). Tetrahydrobiopterin: Beyond Its Traditional Role as a Cofactor. *Antioxidants (Basel)*, *12*(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox12051037
- 33. El Idrissi, A., & Trenkner, E. (2003). Taurine regulates mitochondrial calcium homeostasis. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, *526*, 527–536. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-0077-3 63
- 34. Fang, R., Yu, Y.-F., Li, E.-J., Lv, N.-X., Liu, Z.-C., Zhou, H.-G., & Song, X.-D. (2022). Global, regional, national burden and gender disparity of cataract: findings from the global burden of disease study 2019. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 2068. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-14491-0

- 35. Fernandez, M. E., Bernier, M., Price, N. L., Camandola, S., Aon, M. A., Vaughan, K., Mattison, J. A., Preston, J. D., Jones, D. P., Tanaka, T., Tian, Q., González-Freire, M., Ferrucci, L., & de Cabo, R. (2025). Is taurine an aging biomarker? *Science*, 388(6751), eadl2116. https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/science.adl2116
- 36. Flaugh, S. L., Mills, I. A., & King, J. (2006). Glutamine Deamidation Destabilizes Human γD-Crystallin and Lowers the Kinetic Barrier to Unfolding*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *281*(41), 30782-30793. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M603882200
- 37. Flocks, M., Littwin, C. S., & Zimmerman, L. E. (1955). Phacolytic glaucoma; a clinicopathologic study of one hundred thirty-eight cases of glaucoma associated with hypermature cataract. *AMA Arch Ophthalmol*, *54*(1), 37–45.
- 38. Francisqueti, F. V., Chiaverini, L. C., Santos, K. C., Minatel, I. O., Ronchi, C. B., Ferron, A. J., Ferreira, A. L., & Corrêa, C. R. (2017). The role of oxidative stress on the pathophysiology of metabolic syndrome. *Rev Assoc Med Bras* (1992), 63(1), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1590/1806-9282.63.01.85
- 39. Froger, N., Moutsimilli, L., Cadetti, L., Jammoul, F., Wang, Q. P., Fan, Y., Gaucher, D., Rosolen, S. G., Neveux, N., Cynober, L., Sahel, J. A., & Picaud, S. (2014). Taurine: the comeback of a neutraceutical in the prevention of retinal degenerations. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 41, 44–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2014.03.001
- 40. Georgiou-Siafis, S. K., & Tsiftsoglou, A. S. (2023). The Key Role of GSH in Keeping the Redox Balance in Mammalian Cells: Mechanisms and Significance of GSH in Detoxification via Formation of Conjugates. *Antioxidants*, 12(11), 1953. https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3921/12/11/1953
- 41. German, J. B., Hammock, B. D., & Watkins, S. M. (2005). Metabolomics: building on a century of biochemistry to guide human health. *Metabolomics*, *I*(1), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11306-005-1102-8
- 42. Giblin, F. J. (2000). Glutathione: a vital lens antioxidant. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*, *16*(2), 121–135. https://doi.org/10.1089/jop.2000.16.121
- 43. Giustarini, D., Colombo, G., Garavaglia, M. L., Astori, E., Portinaro, N. M., Reggiani, F., Badalamenti, S., Aloisi, A. M., Santucci, A., Rossi, R., Milzani, A., & Dalle-Donne, I. (2017). Assessment of glutathione/glutathione disulphide ratio and S-glutathionylated proteins in human blood, solid tissues, and cultured cells. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *112*, 360–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.08.008
- 44. Goel, M., Picciani, R. G., Lee, R. K., & Bhattacharya, S. K. (2010). Aqueous humor dynamics: a review. *Open Ophthalmol J*, *4*, 52–59. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874364101004010052
- 45. Goulet, D. R., Knee, K. M., & King, J. A. (2011). Inhibition of unfolding and aggregation of lens protein human gamma D crystallin by sodium citrate. *Exp Eye Res*, 93(4), 371–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2011.04.011
- 46. Grüb, M., & Mielke, J. (2004). [Aqueous humor dynamics]. *Ophthalmologe*, *101*(4), 357–365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00347-003-0939-3 (Kammerwasserdynamik. Kammerwasserbildung und Kammerwasserabfluss.)
- 47. Han, X., Zou, M., Liu, Z., Sun, Y., Young, C. A., Zheng, D., & Jin, G. (2023). Time trends and heterogeneity in the disease burden of visual impairment due to cataract, 1990–2019: A global analysis. *Front Public Health*, 11, 1140533. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1140533
- 48. Hansen, S. H., Andersen, M. L., Cornett, C., Gradinaru, R., & Grunnet, N. (2010). A role for taurine in mitochondrial function. *J Biomed Sci*, *17 Suppl 1*(Suppl 1), S23. https://doi.org/10.1186/1423-0127-17-s1-s23
- 49. Harding, J. J. (2001). Can drugs or micronutrients prevent cataract? *Drugs Aging*, *18*(7), 473–486. https://doi.org/10.2165/00002512-200118070-00001
- 50. Hartai, Z., Klivenyi, P., Janaky, T., Penke, B., Dux, L., & Vecsei, L. (2005). Kynurenine metabolism in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 112(2), 93–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0404.2005. 00442.x

- 51. Hashemi, H., Pakzad, R., Yekta, A., Aghamirsalim, M., Pakbin, M., Ramin, S., & Khabazkhoob, M. (2020). Global and regional prevalence of age-related cataract: a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eye (Lond)*, *34*(8), 1357–1370. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41433-020-0806-3
- 52. Hayashi, K., Yoshida, M., Manabe, S. I., & Hirata, A. (2024). High-risk factors for zonular complications during cataract surgery in eyes with pseudoexfoliation syndrome. *Br J Ophthalmol*, 108(9), 1193–1199. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjo-2023-324832
- 53. He, W., Zhu, X., Wolff, D., Zhao, Z., Sun, X., & Lu, Y. (2016). Evaluation of Anterior Chamber Volume in Cataract Patients with Swept-Source Optical Coherence Tomography. *J Ophthalmol*, 2016, 8656301. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/8656301
- 54. Houtkooper, R. H., Pirinen, E., & Auwerx, J. (2012). Sirtuins as regulators of metabolism and healthspan. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *13*(4), 225–238. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3293
- 55. Hurst, M. A., & Douthwaite, W. A. (1993). Assessing vision behind cataract a review of methods. *Optom Vis Sci*, 70(11), 903–913. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006324-199311000-00007
- 56. Javitt, J. C., Wang, F., & West, S. K. (1996). Blindness due to cataract: epidemiology and prevention. *Annu Rev Public Health*, *17*, 159–177. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pu.17.050196.001111
- 57. Jiao, Y. T., Kang, Y. R., Wen, M. Y., Wu, H. Q., Zhang, X. W., & Huang, W. H. (2023). Fast Antioxidation Kinetics of Glutathione Intracellularly Monitored by a Dual-Wire Nanosensor. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl*, 62(51), e202313612. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202313612
- 58. Jong, C. J., Azuma, J., & Schaffer, S. W. (2011). Role of mitochondrial permeability transition in taurine deficiency-induced apoptosis. *Exp Clin Cardiol*, *16*(4), 125–128.
- 59. Jong, C. J., Sandal, P., & Schaffer, S. W. (2021). The Role of Taurine in Mitochondria Health: More Than Just an Antioxidant. *Molecules*, 26(16). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26164913
- 60. Kalsy, J., Raichrur, H., & Patwardhan, A. D. (1990). Study of aqueous humour in anterior uveitis. *Indian J Ophthalmol*, 38(1), 20–23.
- 61. Kamradt, M. C., Lu, M., Werner, M. E., Kwan, T., Chen, F., Strohecker, A., Oshita, S., Wilkinson, J. C., Yu, C., Oliver, P. G., Duckett, C. S., Buchsbaum, D. J., LoBuglio, A. F., Jordan, V. C., & Cryns, V. L. (2005). The small heat shock protein alpha B-crystallin is a novel inhibitor of TRAIL-induced apoptosis that suppresses the activation of caspase-3. *J Biol Chem*, 280(12), 11059–11066. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M413382200
- 62. Kim, D. G., Kwon, Y. M., Kang, I. S., & Kim, C. (2020). Taurine chloramine selectively regulates neutrophil degranulation through the inhibition of myeloperoxidase and upregulation of lactoferrin. *Amino Acids*, 52(8), 1191–1199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-020-02886-5
- 63. Kim, H. K., & Han, J. (2020). Tetrahydrobiopterin in energy metabolism and metabolic diseases. *Pharmacol Res*, *157*, 104827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104827
- 64. Kincaid, J. W., & Berger, N. A. (2020). NAD metabolism in aging and cancer. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 245(17), 1594–1614. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370220929287
- 65. Korlimbinis, A., & Truscott, R. J. (2006). Identification of 3-hydroxykynurenine bound to proteins in the human lens. A possible role in age-related nuclear cataract. *Biochemistry*, 45(6), 1950–1960. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi051744y
- 66. Kozieł, K., & Urbanska, E. M. (2023). Kynurenine Pathway in Diabetes Mellitus-Novel Pharmacological Target? *Cells*, *12*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells12030460
- 67. Kuznetsov, A. V., Margreiter, R., Ausserlechner, M. J., & Hagenbuchner, J. (2022). The Complex Interplay between Mitochondria, ROS and Entire Cellular Metabolism. *Antioxidants*, 11(10), 1995. https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3921/11/10/1995
- 68. Lamers, R.-J. A. N., Spies-Faber, E. J., Jellema, R. H., Spijksma, G. K., Vogels, J. T. W. E., van der Greef, J., van Nesselrooij, J. H. J., DeGroot, J., Kraus, V. B., Verzijl, N., & TeKoppele, J. M. (2003). Identification of Disease- and Nutrient- Related Metabolic Fingerprints in Osteoarthritic Guinea Pigs. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *133*(6), 1776–1780. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/133.6.1776

- 69. Lampi, K. J., Ma, Z., Hanson, S. R., Azuma, M., Shih, M., Shearer, T. R., Smith, D. L., Smith, J. B., & David, L. L. (1998). Age-related changes in human lens crystallins identified by two-dimensional electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. *Exp Eye Res*, 67(1), 31–43. https://doi.org/10.1006/exer.1998.0481
- 71. Lei, Q., Wang, Y., Zhou, H., Cao, D., Hu, J., Zhang, W., & Xing, Y. (2022). Anterior chamber parameters in cataract surgery candidates from middle China. *Medicine*, *101*(49). https://journals.lww.com/md-journal/fulltext/2022/12090/anterior chamber parameters in cataract surgery.111.aspx
- 72. Li, J., Buonfiglio, F., Zeng, Y., Pfeiffer, N., & Gericke, A. (2024). Oxidative Stress in Cataract Formation: Is There a Treatment Approach on the Horizon? *Antioxidants (Basel)*, *13*(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox13101249
- 73. Li, M., Jia, W., Song, J., Ma, J., Zhou, Y., Han, Y., Peng, M., Zhou, J., Chen, X., & Li, X. (2025). Global prevalence and years lived with disability (YLDs) of cataract in 204 countries and territories: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2021. *Eye*, *39*(9), 1737–1743. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41433-025-03743-z
- 74. Lionaki, E., Ploumi, C., & Tavernarakis, N. (2022). One-Carbon Metabolism: Pulling the Strings behind Aging and Neurodegeneration. *Cells*, *11*(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11020214
- 75. Liu, S., Jin, Z., Xia, R., Zheng, Z., Zha, Y., Wang, Q., Wan, X., Yang, H., & Cai, J. (2022). Protection of Human Lens Epithelial Cells from Oxidative Stress Damage and Cell Apoptosis by KGF-2 through the Akt/Nrf2/HO-1 Pathway. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2022, 6933812. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/6933812
- 76. Liu, Y. C., Wilkins, M., Kim, T., Malyugin, B., & Mehta, J. S. (2017). Cataracts. *Lancet*, *390*(10094), 600–612. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(17)30544-5
- 77. Lotery, A. J. (2005). Glutamate excitotoxicity in glaucoma: truth or fiction? *Eye*, 19(4), 369–370. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.eye.6701623
- 78. Lou, M. F. (2003). Redox regulation in the lens. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 22(5), 657–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1350-9462(03)00050-8
- 79. Lu, S. C. (2013). Glutathione synthesis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1830*(5), 3143–3153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.09.008
- 80. Lynch, J. H., & Dudareva, N. (2020). Aromatic Amino Acids: A Complex Network Ripe for Future Exploration. *Trends Plant Sci*, 25(7), 670–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2020.02.005
- 81. Ma, B., Zhang, L., Li, J., Xing, T., Jiang, Y., & Gao, F. (2021). Dietary taurine supplementation ameliorates muscle loss in chronic heat stressed broilers via suppressing the perk signaling and reversing endoplasmic reticulum-stress-induced apoptosis. *J Sci Food Agric*, 101(5), 2125–2134. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.10835
- 82. Ma, L., Dong, Y., Li, Z., Meng, J., Zhao, B., & Wang, Q. (2024). Relationship between circulating metabolites and diabetic retinopathy: a two-sample Mendelian randomization analysis. *Scientific Reports*, *14*(1), 4964. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-55704-3
- 83. Ma, Z., Hanson, S. R., Lampi, K. J., David, L. L., Smith, D. L., & Smith, J. B. (1998). Age-related changes in human lens crystallins identified by HPLC and mass spectrometry. *Exp Eye Res*, *67*(1), 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1006/exer.1998.0482
- 84. Mailankot, M., Howell, S., & Nagaraj, R. H. (2010). Kynurenine inhibits fibroblast growth factor 2-mediated expression of crystallins and MIP26 in lens epithelial cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1802(7-8), 609–620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.05.005
- 85. Mailankot, M., & Nagaraj, R. H. (2010). Induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by interferon-gamma in human lens epithelial cells: Apoptosis through the formation of 3-hydroxykynurenine. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 42(9), 1446–1454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2010.04.014

- 86. Mailankot, M., Staniszewska, M., Butler, H., Caprara, M., Howell, S., Wang, B., Doller, C., Reneker, L., & Nagaraj, R. (2009). Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase overexpression causes kynurenine-modification of proteins, fiber cell apoptosis and cataract formation in the mouse lens. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*, 89, 498–512. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2009.22
- 87. Malone, J. I., Benford, S. A., & Malone, J. (1993). Taurine prevents galactose-induced cataracts. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*, 7(1), 44–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/1056-8727(93)90023-R
- 88. Marcinkiewicz, J., & Kontny, E. (2014). Taurine and inflammatory diseases. *Amino Acids*, 46(1), 7–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-012-1361-4
- 89. Mashyakhy, M., Alkahtani, A., Abumelha, A. S., Sharroufna, R. J., Alkahtany, M. F., Jamal, M., Robaian, A., Binalrimal, S., Chohan, H., Patil, V. R., Raj, A. T., Bhandi, S., Reda, R., Testarelli, L., & Patil, S. (2021). Taurine Augments Telomerase Activity and Promotes Chondrogenesis in Dental Pulp Stem Cells. *J Pers Med*, *11*(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm11060491
- 90. Mathias, R. T., Kistler, J., & Donaldson, P. (2007). The lens circulation. *J Membr Biol*, *216*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00232-007-9019-y
- 91. McReynolds, M. R., Chellappa, K., & Baur, J. A. (2020). Age-related NAD(+) decline. *Exp Gerontol*, *134*, 110888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2020.110888
- 92. Merritt, J. L., 2nd, Norris, M., & Kanungo, S. (2018). Fatty acid oxidation disorders. *Ann Transl Med*, 6(24), 473. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2018.10.57
- 93. Moreau, K. L., & King, J. A. (2012). Protein misfolding and aggregation in cataract disease and prospects for prevention. *Trends Mol Med*, *18*(5), 273–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed. 2012.03.005
- 94. Morozova, O. B., Zhuravleva, Y. S., Geniman, M. P., Yurkovskaya, A. V., & Sherin, P. S. (2023). Disproportionation and dimerisation of kynurenic acid under UV light. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 445, 115009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotochem.2023.115009
- 95. Moshirfar, M., Milner, D., & Patel, B. C. (2024). Cataract Surgery. In StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing
- 96. Copyright © 2024, StatPearls Publishing LLC.
- 97. Mulhern, M. L., Madson, C. J., Kador, P. F., Randazzo, J., & Shinohara, T. (2007). Cellular osmolytes reduce lens epithelial cell death and alleviate cataract formation in galactosemic rats. *Mol Vis*, *13*, 1397–1405.
- 98. Nam, G. E., Han, K., Ha, S. G., Han, B. D., Kim, D. H., Kim, Y. H., Cho, K. H., Park, Y. G., & Ko, B. J. (2015). Relationship between socioeconomic and lifestyle factors and cataracts in Koreans: the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2008–2011. *Eye (Lond)*, 29(7), 913–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/eye.2015.66
- 99. Negahban, K., & Chern, K. (2002). Cataracts associated with systemic disorders and syndromes. *Curr Opin Ophthalmol*, *13*(6), 419–422. https://doi.org/10.1097/00055735-200212000-00013
- 100. Negahban, K., & Chern, K. (2002). Cataracts associated with systemic disorders and syndromes. *Current Opinion in Ophthalmology*, *13*(6). https://journals.lww.com/co-ophthalmology/fulltext/2002/12000/cataracts associated with systemic disorders and 13.aspx
- 101. Ofri, R. (2002). Intraocular pressure and glaucoma. *Vet Clin North Am Exot Anim Pract*, *5*(2), 391–406, vii–viii. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1094-9194(01)00004-4
- 102. Ogbechi, J., Clanchy, F. I., Huang, Y. S., Topping, L. M., Stone, T. W., & Williams, R. O. (2020). IDO activation, inflammation and musculoskeletal disease. *Exp Gerontol*, *131*, 110820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2019.110820
- 103. Ortuño-Sahagún, D., Pallàs, M., & Rojas-Mayorquín, A. E. (2014). Oxidative stress in aging: advances in proteomic approaches. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2014, 573208. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/573208
- 104. Pakravan, M., Sharifipour, F., Yazdani, S., Koohestani, N., & Yaseri, M. (2012). Scheimpflug imaging criteria for identifying eyes at high risk of acute angle closure. *J Ophthalmic Vis Res*, 7(2), 111–117.

- 105. Pehar, M., Harlan, B. A., Killoy, K. M., & Vargas, M. R. (2018). Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Metabolism and Neurodegeneration. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 28(18), 1652–1668. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2017.7145
- 106. Pesudovs, K., & Coster, D. J. (1998). An instrument for assessment of subjective visual disability in cataract patients. *Br J Ophthalmol*, 82(6), 617–624. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjo.82.6.617
- 107. Poznyak, A., Grechko, A. V., Poggio, P., Myasoedova, V. A., Alfieri, V., & Orekhov, A. N. (2020). The Diabetes Mellitus-Atherosclerosis Connection: The Role of Lipid and Glucose Metabolism and Chronic Inflammation. *Int J Mol Sci*, *21*(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21051835
- 108. Raghubeer, S., & Matsha, T. E. (2021). Methylenetetrahydrofolate (MTHFR), the One-Carbon Cycle, and Cardiovascular Risks. *Nutrients*, *13*(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13124562
- 109. Records, R. E. (1980). Monocular diplopia. *Surv Ophthalmol*, *24*(5), 303–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/0039-6257(80)90059-4
- 110. Rejdak, R., Oleszczuk, A., Rummelt, C., Turski, W. A., Choragiewicz, T., Nowomiejska, K., Ksiazek, K., Thaler, S., Zarnowski, T., Okuno, E., Grieb, P., Zrenner, E., Kruse, F., & Junemann, A. G. (2013). Presence and distribution of L-kynurenine aminotransferases immunoreactivity in human cataractous lenses. *Acta Ophthalmol*, *91*(6), e450–455. https://doi.org/10.1111/aos.12138
- 111. Richardson, R. B., Ainsbury, E. A., Prescott, C. R., & Lovicu, F. J. (2020). Etiology of posterior subcapsular cataracts based on a review of risk factors including aging, diabetes, and ionizing radiation. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, *96*(11), 1339–1361. https://doi.org/10.1080/09553 002.2020.1812759
- 112. Ripps, H., & Shen, W. (2012). Review: taurine: a "very essential" amino acid. *Mol Vis*, 18, 2673–2686.
- 113. Rossi, T., Romano, M. R., Iannetta, D., Romano, V., Gualdi, L., D'Agostino, I., & Ripandelli, G. (2021). Cataract surgery practice patterns worldwide: a survey. *BMJ Open Ophthalmol*, *6*(1), e000464. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjophth-2020-000464
- 114. Ruan, X., Liu, Z., Luo, L., & Liu, Y. (2020). The Structure of the Lens and Its Associations with the Visual Quality. *BMJ Open Ophthalmol*, *5*(1), e000459. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjophth-2020-000459
- 115. Sadowska-Bartosz, I., & Bartosz, G. (2014). Effect of Antioxidants Supplementation on Aging and Longevity. *BioMed Research International*, 2014(1), 404680. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/404680
- 116. Savitz, J. (2020). The kynurenine pathway: a finger in every pie. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *25*(1), 131–147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0414-4
- 117. Savitz, J., Drevets, W. C., Smith, C. M., Victor, T. A., Wurfel, B. E., Bellgowan, P. S., Bodurka, J., Teague, T. K., & Dantzer, R. (2015). Putative neuroprotective and neurotoxic kynurenine pathway metabolites are associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in subjects with major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(2), 463–471. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.194
- 118. Schaffer, S. W., Ju Jong, C., Kc, R., & Azuma, J. (2010). Physiological roles of taurine in heart and muscle. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 17(1), S2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1423-0127-17-S1-S2
- 119. Scharfenberg, E., & Schlötzer-Schrehardt, U. (2012). [PEX syndrome. Clinical diagnosis and systemic manifestations]. *Ophthalmologe*, *109*(10), 952–961. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00347-012-2534-y (Pseudoexfoliationssyndrom. Klinische Diagnose und systemische Manifestationen.)
- 120. Scott, J. A., Roberts, C. J., Mahmoud, A. M., & Jain, S. G. (2021). Evaluating the Relationship of Intraocular Pressure and Anterior Chamber Volume With Use of Prostaglandin Analogues. *J Glaucoma*, 30(5), 421–427. https://doi.org/10.1097/ijg.0000000000001736
- 121. Seneff, S., & Kyriakopoulos, A. M. (2025). Taurine prevents mitochondrial dysfunction and protects mitochondria from reactive oxygen species and deuterium toxicity. *Amino Acids*, 57(1), 6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-024-03440-3
- 122. Serebryany, E., & King, J. A. (2014). The βγ-crystallins: native state stability and pathways to aggregation. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol*, 115(1), 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2014.05.002

- 123. Sevin, G., Kerry, Z., Sozer, N., & Ozsarlak-Sozer, G. (2021). Taurine supplementation protects lens against glutathione depletion. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, 25(13), 4520–4526. https://doi.org/10.26355/eurrev 202107 26244
- 124. Shandiz, J. H., Derakhshan, A., Daneshyar, A., Azimi, A., Moghaddam, H. O., Yekta, A. A., Yazdi, S. H., & Esmaily, H. (2011). Effect of cataract type and severity on visual acuity and contrast sensitivity. *J Ophthalmic Vis Res*, *6*(1), 26–31.
- 125. Sharma, S., Rodems, B. J., Baker, C. D., Kaszuba, C. M., Franco, E. I., Smith, B. R., Ito, T., Swovick, K., Welle, K., Zhang, Y., Rock, P., Chaves, F. A., Ghaemmaghami, S., Calvi, L. M., Ganguly, A., Burack, W. R., Becker, M. W., Liesveld, J. L., Brookes, P. S., . . . Bajaj, J. (2025). Taurine from tumour niche drives glycolysis to promote leukaemogenesis. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-025-09018-7
- 126. Sheikh, A., & Iqbal, M. (2023). Taurine as a potential anti-ageing therapy: the key to reversing the ageing process? Short communication. *Ann Med Surg (Lond)*, 85(7), 3759–3760. https://doi.org/10.1097/ms9.0000000000000826
- 127. Shui, Y. B., & Beebe, D. C. (2008). Age-dependent control of lens growth by hypoxia. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 49(3), 1023–1029. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.07-1164
- 128. Singh, P., Gollapalli, K., Mangiola, S., Schranner, D., Yusuf, M. A., Chamoli, M., Shi, S. L., Lopes Bastos, B., Nair, T., Riermeier, A., Vayndorf, E. M., Wu, J. Z., Nilakhe, A., Nguyen, C. Q., Muir, M., Kiflezghi, M. G., Foulger, A., Junker, A., Devine, J., . . . Yadav, V. K. (2023). Taurine deficiency as a driver of aging. *Science*, 380(6649), eabn9257. https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/science.abn9257
- 129. Skiadaresi, E., McAlinden, C., Pesudovs, K., Polizzi, S., Khadka, J., & Ravalico, G. (2012). Subjective quality of vision before and after cataract surgery. *Arch Ophthalmol*, *130*(11), 1377–1382. https://doi.org/10.1001/archophthalmol.2012.1603
- 130. Son, H. Y., Kim, H., & Y, H. K. (2007). Taurine prevents oxidative damage of high glucose-induced cataractogenesis in isolated rat lenses. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo)*, *53*(4), 324–330. https://doi.org/10.3177/jnsv.53.324
- 131. Song, B. J., Abdelmegeed, M. A., Yoo, S. H., Kim, B. J., Jo, S. A., Jo, I., & Moon, K. H. (2011). Post-translational modifications of mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenase and biomedical implications. *J Proteomics*, 74(12), 2691–2702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2011.05.013
- 132. Sperduto, R. D. (1994). Age-related cataracts: scope of problem and prospects for prevention. *Prev Med*, 23(5), 735–739. https://doi.org/10.1006/pmed.1994.1126
- 133. Srinivasan, A. N., Nagineni, C. N., & Bhat, S. P. (1992). alpha A-crystallin is expressed in non-ocular tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 267(32), 23337–23341.
- 134. Steinmetz, J. D., Bourne, R. R. A., Briant, P. S., Flaxman, S. R., Taylor, H. R. B., Jonas, J. B., Abdoli, A. A., Abrha, W. A., Abualhasan, A., Abu-Gharbieh, E. G., Adal, T. G., Afshin, A., Ahmadieh, H., Alemayehu, W., Alemzadeh, S. A. S., Alfaar, A. S., Alipour, V., Androudi, S., Arabloo, J., . . . Vos, T. (2021). Causes of blindness and vision impairment in 2020 and trends over 30 years, and prevalence of avoidable blindness in relation to VISION 2020: the Right to Sight: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *The Lancet Global Health*, *9*(2), e144–e160. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X (20)30489-7
- 135. Surguchev, A., & Surguchov, A. (2010). Conformational diseases: Looking into the eyes. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 81(1), 12–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2009.09.015
- 136. Taylor, A., & Davies, K. J. (1987). Protein oxidation and loss of protease activity may lead to cataract formation in the aged lens. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *3*(6), 371–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(87)90015-3
- 137. Tiedemann, F., & Gmelin, L. (1827). Einige neue Bestandtheile der Galle des Ochsen. *Annalen der Physik*, 85(2), 326–337. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/andp.18270850214
- 138. Trachtman, H., Barbour, R., Sturman, J. A., & Finberg, L. (1988). Taurine and Osmoregulation: Taurine Is a Cerebral Osmoprotective Molecule in Chronic Hypernatremic Dehydration. *Pediatric Research*, 23(1), 35–39. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-198801000-00008

- 139. Tram, N. K., McLean, R. M., & Swindle-Reilly, K. E. (2021). Glutathione Improves the Antioxidant Activity of Vitamin C in Human Lens and Retinal Epithelial Cells: Implications for Vitreous Substitutes. *Curr Eye Res*, 46(4), 470–481. https://doi.org/10.1080/02713683.2020.1809002
- 140. Truscott, R. J. (2005). Age-related nuclear cataract-oxidation is the key. *Exp Eye Res*, 80(5), 709–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2004.12.007
- 141. Truscott, R. J., & Friedrich, M. G. (2016). The etiology of human age-related cataract. Proteins don't last forever. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1860*(1 Pt B), 192–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen. 2015.08.016
- 142. Tu, S., Zhang, X. L., Wan, H. F., Xia, Y. Q., Liu, Z. Q., Yang, X. H., & Wan, F. S. (2018). Effect of taurine on cell proliferation and apoptosis human lung cancer A549 cells. *Oncol Lett*, 15(4), 5473–5480. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2018.8036
- 143. Wang, K., Hoshino, M., Uesugi, K., Yagi, N., Pierscionek, B. K., & Andley, U. P. (2022). Oxysterol Compounds in Mouse Mutant αA- and αB-Crystallin Lenses Can Improve the Optical Properties of the Lens. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, *63*(5), 15–15. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.63.5.15
- 144. Wang, Y., Hou, X. W., Liang, G., & Pan, C. W. (2021). Metabolomics in Glaucoma: A Systematic Review. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 62(6), 9. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.62.6.9
- 145. Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Zhang, Y., Dong, X., & Liu, Y. (2025). Diverse Physiological Roles of Kynurenine Pathway Metabolites: Updated Implications for Health and Disease. *Metabolites*, *15*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo15030210
- 146. Whittaker, J. W. (2016). Intracellular trafficking of the pyridoxal cofactor. Implications for health and metabolic disease. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, *592*, 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2015.11.031
- 147. Wu, J.-Y., & Prentice, H. (2010). Role of taurine in the central nervous system. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 17(1), S1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1423-0127-17-S1-S1
- 148. Xiao, W., Wang, R. S., Handy, D. E., & Loscalzo, J. (2018). NAD(H) and NADP(H) Redox Couples and Cellular Energy Metabolism. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 28(3), 251–272. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2017.7216
- 149. Yanshole, V. V., Yanshole, L. V., Snytnikova, O. A., & Tsentalovich, Y. P. (2019). Quantitative metabolomic analysis of changes in the lens and aqueous humor under development of age-related nuclear cataract. *Metabolomics*, 15(3), 29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11306-019-1495-4
- 150. Zainal, M., Ismail, S. M., Ropilah, A. R., Elias, H., Arumugam, G., Alias, D., Fathilah, J., Lim, T. O., Ding, L. M., & Goh, P. P. (2002). Prevalence of blindness and low vision in Malaysian population: results from the National Eye Survey 1996. *Br J Ophthalmol*, 86(9), 951–956. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjo.86.9.951
- 151. Zarnowski, T., Rejdak, R., Rummelt, C., Zielinska–Rzecka, E., Grieb, P., Turski, W. A., Zrenner, E., Zagorski, Z., & Junemann, A. M. (2005). Synthesis of Kynurenic Acid, a Tryptophan Derivative in Cataractous Lenses. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 46(13), 2884–2884.
- 152. Zarnowski, T., Rejdak, R., Zielinska-Rzecka, E., Zrenner, E., Grieb, P., Zagórski, Z., Junemann, A., & Turski, W. A. (2007). Elevated concentrations of kynurenic acid, a tryptophan derivative, in dense nuclear cataracts. *Curr Eye Res*, 32(1), 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/02713680601090965
- 153. Zenkel, M., & Schlötzer-Schrehardt, U. (2014). The composition of exfoliation material and the cells involved in its production. *J Glaucoma*, 23(8 Suppl 1), S12–14. https://doi.org/10.1097/iig.0000000000000123

Acknowledgements

With sincere respect and gratitude, I wish to express my heartfelt thanks to all colleagues whose work, support, and knowledge contributed to the completion of this study. My deepest thanks go to the doctors and medical staff who patiently and professionally assisted in the collection of intraocular fluid samples – without your precision, care, and responsiveness, this study would not have been possible. I would like to extend special thanks to Assist. Prof. Vanags, Dr. Jurjāne, Dr. Markeviča, and Dr. Kursīte for their active involvement in the collection of anterior chamber fluid, meticulous biometric measurements, and thorough documentation, as well as to the operating room nurses for their invaluable support and dedication.

I sincerely thank my supervisors, Prof. Laganovska and Assist. Prof. Vanags, as well as the scientific consultant, Assoc. Prof. Kļaviņš, for their perseverance, unwavering belief in the goals of our study, and invaluable support throughout the entire doctoral process.

I am especially grateful to Dr. Lavrinoviča and Dr. Rizzuto for their long and careful work in collecting biometric data, as well as for their invaluable assistance in reviewing the scientific literature – your contribution greatly enhanced the quality of the study and strengthened its analytical and theoretical foundation.

Your inspiring example, valuable advice, and constant belief in my abilities gave me strength and motivation even in moments when the work seemed challenging and demanding. Your presence not only guided the academic process but also provided personal support, for which I am truly grateful.

The completion of this work is a shared achievement, built on collaboration, trust, and a common desire to advance science. Thank you to all of you who were part of this process.